



Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 1411 (1999) 437-455

Review

# Nitric oxide in septic shock

Michael A. Titheradge \*

School of Biological Sciences, University of Sussex, Falmer, Brighton BN1 9QG, UK Received 6 July 1998; received in revised form 15 October 1998; accepted 4 December 1998

#### Abstract

Septic shock is a major cause of death following trauma and is a persistent problem in surgical patients throughout the world. It is characterised by hypotension and vascular collapse, with a failure of the major organs within the body. The role of excessive nitric oxide (NO) production, following the cytokine-dependent induction of the inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS), in the development of septic shock is discussed. Emphasis is placed upon the signal-transduction process by which iNOS is induced and the role of NO in cellular energy dysfunction and the abnormal function of the cardiovascular system and liver during septic shock. © 1999 Elsevier Science B.V. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Septic shock; Endotoxin; Nitric oxide; Cardiovascular; Liver

#### Contents

1.	Sepsis and septic shock	438
2.	Nitric oxide and septic shock	439
3.	The mechanism of iNOS induction in septic shock	441
4.	Inhibition of iNOS expression in endotoxic shock	444
5.	NO and energy transduction in septic shock	445
6.	NO and the vascular system	447
7.	NO and liver function in septic shock	448
8.	NO and apoptosis in septic shock	450
9.	Conclusion	450
Acl	Acknowledgements	
References		451

\* Fax: +44 (1273) 678433; E-mail: m.a.titheradge@sussex.ac.uk

0005-2728/99/\$ - see front matter © 1999 Elsevier Science B.V. All rights reserved. PII: S 0 0 0 5 - 2 7 2 8 (9 9) 0 0 0 3 1 - 6

## 1. Sepsis and septic shock

Sepsis is defined as the systemic response to infection, the most common cause being the contamination of the blood with bacteria [1]. Septic shock (sepsis with hypotension) develops in almost half of the patients as a complication, with a mortality rate of 40-60%, despite treatment [2-5]. The development of shock results in a progressive failure of the circulation to provide blood and oxygen to vital organs of the body resulting in impaired tissue perfusion and oxygen extraction [4]. The key symptoms include a severe fall in blood pressure (hypotension) with hyporeactivity to vasoconstrictor agents (vasoplegia) which may lead to the dysfunction or failure of major organs including lungs, liver, kidneys and brain (multiple organ dysfunction, MODS) and ultimately death [2-5].

Although the most common cause of septic shock is secondary to Gram-negative infections (endotoxic shock), invasion of Gram-positive organisms accounts for an increasing percentage of cases (1/3 to 1/2 of all incidences) with viruses, fungi and parasites accounting for a small number of cases [1]. Individuals may be predisposed to septic shock following impairment of the host defence mechanisms, for example, following trauma, burn injuries, diabetes, cirrhosis and treatment with immunosuppressive and chemotherapeutic agents [1,2].

Septic patients are in a hyperdynamic state characterised by tachycardia, high cardiac output, low systemic vascular resistance, hypoxaemia, oliguria and lactic acidosis [4,5]. Following infection there is an increase in the circulating concentrations of catecholamines, cortisol and glucagon [2] resulting in tachycardia and peripheral vasoconstriction. This phase is followed by a progressive vasodilation associated with high cardiac output and decreased vascular resistance and in some cases vasoplegia. Subsequent to this, cardiac failure develops with a progressive fall in cardiac output and marked disturbances in tissue perfusion and oxygenation occur [4]. Hyperglycaemia is commonly present and represents the influence of circulating cytokines and glucoregulatory hormones; however, in advanced stages hypoglycaemia may occur due to depletion of hepatic glycogen and inhibition of gluconeogenesis ([6] and references therein). There are also associated marked increases in plasma transaminase activity, urea and bilirubin concentrations, indicative of hepatic and renal injury, while the development of lactic acidosis reflects inadequate tissue perfusion and anaerobic metabolism [2].

It is now clearly established that bacterial endotoxin, a lipopolysaccharide (LPS) component of the outer membrane of Gram-negative bacteria, is the major mediator of the high morbidity and mortality rates characteristic of Gram-negative septic shock. Administration of endotoxin experimentally to animals mimics the symptoms of septic shock, while infusion in man results in a hyperdynamic, hypermetabolic response similar to that of shock due to Gram-negative bacteraemia. The morbidity and mortality in septic patients and animals can be decreased by treatment with antibodies to endotoxin (reviewed in [2]). The structure of the endotoxin complex is shown in Fig. 1. In Gram-positive shock, a variety of mediators have been proposed [2]; however, it is evident that the peptidoglycan and lipoteichoic acids (LTA) of the cell wall (Fig. 1) are important mediators (reviewed in [3]). Both the peptidoglycan and LTA synergise to produce the characteristic features of septic shock, MODS and ultimately death in rodent models [3,7]. These effects are not observed with either LTA or peptidoglycan alone, although high doses of LTA can cause circulatory failure but not MODS [7,8]. Gram-positive bacteria may also release other enterotoxins and exotoxins, for example toxic shock syndrome toxin 1, which are involved in the pathogenesis of sepsis (reviewed in [1]).

The presence of products of bacterial origin in the bloodstream leads to the release of endogenous cytokines which are responsible for the development of septic shock. Patients with septic shock display increased levels of TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , IFN- $\gamma$  and IL-6 in their serum, the latter showing a positive correlation with fatal outcome [5]. Administration of LPS to rabbits triggers a sequential release of TNF- $\alpha$ , IL- $1\beta$  and IL-6 [9], while peptidoglycan and LTA synergise to cause release of TNF- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\gamma$  in the rat [7] and TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6 production by monocytes in vitro [10]. TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  alone reproduce the systemic and pathological effects of septic shock in animals and man [11,12], while animals pretreated with anti-TNF- $\alpha$  antibodies or IL-1 $\beta$  receptor antagonists are protected against shock, although they are



Fig. 1. The structure of LPS and lipoteichoic acid. The endotoxin (LPS) complex is composed of three functionally distinct regions: the outermost region consisting of multiple polysaccharide units that form the specific bacterial O-antigens; the inner and outer core region; and the lipid A component linking the endotoxin molecule to the bacterial outer membrane. The majority of the toxicity is considered to reside in the lipid A component. The lipoteichoic acids are poly(glycerophosphate) chains with position 2 of the glycerophosphate substituted in part with either D-alanine ester or D-alanine ester and glycosyl residues such as D-glucose, D-galactose and N-acetyl-D-glucosamine. It is anchored in the plasma membrane and extends to the surface of the cell wall.

without effect once shock has developed [5,13]. Mice in which the gene for the TNF- $\alpha$  receptor, TNF- $\alpha$ Rp55, has been disrupted are also resistant to endotoxic shock, although TNF- $\alpha$  does not induce lethality by itself. LPS-induced lethal toxicity requires the synergistic effect of TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , IFN- $\gamma$  and NO ([13] and references therein).

#### 2. Nitric oxide and septic shock

Nitric oxide (NO) is a free radical generated by a family of enzymes, the NO synthases (NOS), by the oxidation of one of the guanidino nitrogen atoms of L-arginine to form NO plus citrulline. This is associated with the oxidation of 1.5 molecules of NADPH

per molecule of NO produced and the reduction of molecular oxygen. The reaction sequence involves the generation of an  $N^{\omega}$ -hydroxy-L-arginine intermediate and water, followed by the oxidation of  $N^{\omega}$ -hydroxy-L-arginine in presence of molecular oxygen to form NO, L-citrulline and water [14,15]. There are at least three different isoforms of NO synthase in mammalian cells: endothelial NOS (eNOS or NOS III) found in endothelial cells, epithelial cells and cardiac myocytes; neuronal NOS (nNOS or NOS I) found in neuronal cells and skeletal muscle, and inducible NOS (iNOS or NOS II) found in macrophages, hepatocytes, smooth muscle and a variety of other tissues. All NOS enzymes contain several cofactors in their active form - calmodulin, flavin adenine dinucleotide, flavin mononucleotide and tetrahydrobiopterin [14,16]. eNOS and nNOS are expressed constitutively and are activated by an increase in intracellular Ca2+ and are involved in regulating vascular tone [17,18] and neurotransmission [17] respectively, whereas iNOS is functionally Ca<sup>2+</sup>-independent and involved in the immune defence [16,17], although it is expressed in many cell types following endotoxin or pro-inflammatory cytokine treatment [14-16,19]. nNOS and eNOS are thought to produce small Ca2+-dependent bursts of NO formation, whereas expression of iNOS results in sustained production of large quantities of NO which are postulated to mediate the alterations in the vascular system and the tissue damage apparent in septic shock and MODS.

In recent years there has been a plethora of publications implicating the overproduction of NO in the pathophysiology of septic shock and MODS and the induction of NO synthase, with the consequent excessive formation of NO, has been proposed to be a major factor involved in the pathologic vasodilatation and tissue damage observed [3-6.18]. It is evident that nitrate production is increased in endotoxaemia and that plasma and urinary nitrite and nitrate concentrations are elevated in patients with sepsis and septic shock, the level increasing with the presence of shock and in patients with MODS ([20] and references therein). The only known source of nitrite and nitrate production in mammalian tissues is through the conversion of L-arginine to NO by the NO synthases and subsequent degradation of NO into nitrite and nitrate, the stable end products of NO metabolism [17]. There is a quantitative and qualitative clinical relationship between NO production, endotoxaemia, haemodynamic dysfunction and MODS in human septic shock [20].

iNOS is induced in a variety of tissues in endotoxaemia [17,19] (see Fig. 2) and is proposed to be part of an adaptive response of the host defence mechanism directed towards limiting tissue injury and infections. Once expressed, the inducible enzyme of activated macrophages is capable of producing high concentrations of NO over long periods which has both bactericidal and tumouricidal effects [17].

During endotoxaemia iNOS expression and increases in iNOS mRNA and protein have been observed in a variety of cell types including endothelial cells, macrophages, Kupffer cells, hepatocytes, vascular smooth muscle cells, kidney cells, chondrocytes, cardiac myocytes, pancreatic islets and fibroblasts [15–17,19]. Similarly in the Gram-positive model of sepsis, LTA alone or in combination with peptidoglycan induces iNOS activity and protein in vascular smooth muscle cells and macrophages in vitro and the lung, aorta, heart, liver, pancreas and kidney in vivo [7,21,22]. Although peptidoglycan does not induce iNOS in cultured macrophages, it synergises with LTA in causing the expression of iNOS protein and activity in vitro and in the rat in vivo [7].

The specific factors which induce iNOS in septic shock vary between tissues; however, they include microbes, microbial products and proinflammatory cytokines and there is strong synergy between agents. For example, in murine macrophages LPS induces iNOS and strongly synergises with IFN- $\gamma$ , whereas in cultured hepatocytes LPS alone has no effect, but enhances the induction by IL-1 $\beta$ , TNF- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\gamma$ , with a maximal response being observed with a combination of IL-1 $\beta$ , TNF- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\gamma$  plus LPS [23,24]. Similarly, while IL-1 $\beta$  enhances iNOS expression in chondrocytes, smooth muscle cells, hepatocytes and islets of Langerhans, it has no effect in macrophages [25].

The relevance of overproduction of NO to the development of endotoxic shock has been demonstrated by the use of NO synthase inhibitors and agents which block the expression of iNOS. Administration of  $N^{\omega}$ -methyl-L-arginine (L-NMMA) in both animal models and man with septic shock has been demonstrated to restore blood pressure and reverse the endotoxin-induced hypotension and hyporesponsiveness to vasoconstrictor agents [5]. In addition NOS inhibitors have been shown to improve renal and hepatic function following either endotoxin treatment or treatment with LTA and peptidoglycan [26–28] and increase survival rates in animal models of septic shock [5] (but see later). The hypotension and early mortality caused by endotoxin is also attenuated in iNOS-deficient mice, suggesting that while the enhanced formation of NO by iNOS defends the body against infectious agents and tumour cells, excessive induction of iNOS in other tissues (e.g. vasculature) may cause shock and ultimately tissue damage [29]. Further it is now well established that the expression of iNOS in response to LPS and LTA is negatively regulated by dexamethasone in vivo [30,31] and endogenous glucocorticoids and an increase in the plasma levels of steroids has been proposed to contribute to the development of cardiovascular tolerance to repetitive injections of LPS [31]. Similarly pretreatment of rats with dexamethasone prevents the LPS- and LTA-induced induction of iNOS and attenuates the circulatory failure and hyporeactivity to vasoconstrictor agents [8,31], further



## He Du Sp Di Th Ki II Lu Li

Fig. 2. Western blot analysis of iNOS in tissues in the endotoxin-treated rat. Rats were injected with LPS (4 mg/kg) and the tissues removed after 6 h. 40 µg of protein was used from each tissue and analysed for iNOS expression by Western blotting. Control rats showed no significant iNOS expression in any tissue. He, heart; Du, duodenum; Sp, spleen; Di, diaphragm, Th, thymus; Ki, kidney; II, ileum; Lu, lung; Li, liver.

supporting the concept that excess NO production accounts for circulatory failure in septic shock.

Experiments using agents directed against cytokines or knockout mice generally support a role for the involvement of iNOS in sepsis ([32] and references therein). Pretreatment of animals with the IL-1 $\beta$ receptor antagonist has been demonstrated to attenuate the induction of iNOS in rats and ameliorate the delayed hypotension and tachycardia in response to endotoxin and the hyporeactivity to norepinephrine in aorta ex vivo [25,32]. Similarly administration of anti-TNF- $\alpha$  antibodies prevents the onset of septic shock during lethal bacteraemia and anti-TNF- $\alpha$ antibody or soluble TNF- $\alpha R$  antagonist is able to partially block LPS-induced pulmonary and hepatic NOS expression [32]. Experiments using TNF- $\alpha$ R1 knockout mice have confirmed that TNF- $\alpha$  is involved in iNOS expression; however, this may not be the case for all tissues as it is evident in liver but not spleen [32]. The use of monoclonal antibodies to IFN-y also partially protects against iNOS expression and mortality, while disruption of the IFN-y gene indicates that endogenous IFN-y is required for both the LPS-induced iNOS expression and increase in serum nitrate plus nitrite, although again the extent of the involvement of IFN- $\gamma$  in the induction of iNOS is tissue dependent [32].

Recent work indicates that not only is iNOS mRNA induced in liver after endotoxin or LTA treatment of the rat, but eNOS (NOSIII) mRNA expression is also increased to an even larger extent [22]. The significance of this during septic shock remains to be established as it is not evident in kidney [22] and eNOS is down-regulated in vascular epithe-lium under these conditions [5].

#### 3. The mechanism of iNOS induction in septic shock

The expression of iNOS by LPS, LTA and cytokines results from the interaction of LPS, LTA, peptidoglycan, IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$  with receptors on the plasma membrane, resulting in a signal being transferred to the gene. LPS interacts with a specific LPS binding protein (LBP) and this complex interacts with cell surface molecule CD14 [33]. Recent evidence suggests that the signal may be transduced across the membrane via the Toll-like receptor-2 [34]. Signalling via peptidoglycan has also been suggested to occur through CD14 [35]. IL-1 and TNF each occur in two forms,  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ . TNF- $\alpha$  and both forms of IL-1 are made by activated monocytes and macrophages, whereas TNF- $\beta$  is made by activated T lymphocytes (reviewed in [36]). There are two receptors for both IL-1 and TNF and the two forms of each cytokine interact with the same receptors. IL-1 $\alpha$ and  $\beta$  interact with the type 1 IL-1 receptor for signal transduction, whereas type II does not appear to transmit any signal and functions as an inhibitor of IL-1 action [36]. The two types of TNF receptor, p55 (type I) and p75 (type II) have different end effects, the p55 receptor signals the inflammatory response and apoptosis, whereas p75 mediates the proliferative actions of TNF- $\alpha$  [36].

Although the precise signal transduction pathway for iNOS induction and the development of septic shock and MODS remains to be established, it is evident that tyrosine kinase activation is involved in both the secretion of the cytokines and the signal transduction pathway following interaction of the cytokine with its receptor at the target cell. The tyrosine kinase inhibitors, tyrphostin AG 126, genistein and erbstatin, can prevent LPS-induced lethal toxicity in mice [13] and have also been reported to prevent the circulatory failure (hypotension and vascular hyporeactivity) caused by endotoxin in vivo [37]. Liver injury, pancreatic injury, lactic acidosis and hypoglycaemia are also attenuated by preventing tyrosine phosphorylation in the rat model of endotoxic shock, although the renal failure is not reversed [37]. Both tyrphostins and genistein prevent the rise in serum TNF- $\alpha$  [37] and TNF- $\alpha$  production in macrophages [13], together with the expression of iNOS in response to endotoxin and cytokines in a variety of tissues [13,37]. These agents therefore have a dual role in preventing both cytokine release and blocking the cytokine signalling pathway. The signal transduction pathway leading to the LTA-dependent iNOS expression in J774.2 macrophages is also dependent on tyrosine kinases activity [21].

Fig. 3 shows the proposed mechanism by which these cytokines may act. It is evident that the major response is via activation of the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) family of proteins with subsequent activation of transcription factors required for the expression of iNOS and other genes [36,41–



Fig. 3. Signal transduction pathway for LPS, LTA, TNF-α and IL-1β. The nomenclature is based upon that of Cohen [44]. MAPK, mitogen-activated protein kinase; SAPK, stress-activated protein kinase; MKK, MAPK kinase; SKK, SAPK kinase; Mnk, MAPK-interacting kinase; MAPKAP-K, MAPK-activated protein kinase; NIK, NF-κB inducing kinase; IKK, IκB kinase; CPK, ceramide-dependent protein kinase; GCK, germinal centre kinase; SMAase, sphingomyelinase.

44]. There are a number of groups of MAP kinases in mammalian cells which have been postulated to be activated by cytokines: the extracellular signal regulated kinases (MAPK1 and 2/ERK1 and 2); the c-Jun NH<sub>2</sub>-terminal kinases (SAPK1/JNKs) and the p38 MAP kinase family (SAPK2, 3 and 4). The activity of these kinases is regulated by dual phosphorylation within the protein kinase subdomain VIII by a kinase cascade consisting of a MAP kinase kinase and a MAP kinase kinase kinase (Fig. 3). The importance of the extracellular signal regulated kinase cascade in septic shock is currently unclear, as although IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$  can activate MAPK1 and MAPK2 in a variety of cells via activation of MKK1 and c-Raf (reviewed in [36]) and LPS and peptidoglycan can strongly activate MAPK1 and MAPK2 in RAW264.7 macrophages, this is not universally found [36] and the relevance of this pathway may be tissue dependent. In contrast, the stress activated protein kinases appear to be the major pathway for stimulation [42].

TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  are potent activators of the proline-directed Ser/Thre SAPK1 class, a family of protein kinases which are potent c-Jun kinases [41,43]. For example, IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$  activate SAPK1a (JNK2) and SAPK1c (JNK1) in human glomerular mesangial cells, under conditions where no effects on MAPK1 or 2 are observed and LPS alone is ineffective [45]. SAPK1 is activated under cell stress conditions by phosphorylation on tyrosine and threonine residues by two kinase kinases, SKK1 (SEK1/ MKK4/SAPKK1) and SKK4 (MKK7/SAPKK4/5) [44,49]. SKK4 appears to be specific for SAPK1, and in epithelial Kb cells at least, is the major mediator in the response to IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$ , SKK1 being unresponsive to proinflammatory cytokines but not other forms of cell stress [47]. In vitro SKK1 functions as a dual functional kinase activating both SAPK1 and SAPK2; however, it appears to be ineffective in activating SAPK2 in vivo [42]. Both SKK1 and SKK4 are subject to phosphorylation and activation in situ and in vitro by the serine/threonine kinase MEKK1, although two further MEKK activities have been described which activate both the SAPK1 and MAPK pathways, MEKK2 and MEKK3 [41-44]. MEKK2 preferentially activates SKK1 and the SAPK1 family, while MEKK3 shows preference for MKK1 and the MAPK pathway [49]. Other MEKK-like activities have been found such as MUK which can also act as regulators of the SAPK1 pathway; however, the relative importance of these different components is unclear and may well vary from tissue to tissue, cellular distribution and activating agent. The SAPK1 pathway can also be activated in an SKK1-dependent manner by TNF- $\alpha$  activating the germinal centre kinase (GCK) independently of any activation of SAPK2 or MAPK [41,43]. SAPK1 activation results in phosphorylation and *trans*-activation of the transcription factors c-Jun, Elk-1, and ATF-2 [41,42].

The second stress activated protein kinase group, SAPK2a (p38) and 2b (p38 $\beta$ ), has also been shown to be phosphorylated on tyrosine and activated in response to LPS in macrophages and other tissues, while the novel inflammatory drugs, CSAIDS (cytokine-suppressive anti-inflammatory drug), have been shown to have a protective role in the endotoxic shock model and inhibit LPS-induced TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  production by inhibiting SAPK2a and SAPK2b activity [36,42], suggesting the involvement of SAPK2 in cytokine release. SAPK2 has also been implicated in IL-6 production [46]. Like SAPK1, SAPK2a is activated by dual phosphorylation on Tyr and Thre residues by SKK2 (MKK3) and SKK3 (MKK6), while SAPK2b is activated only by SKK3 (reviewed in [41,43,44,49]). Activation of SKK2 and SKK3 has been suggested to occur via the protein kinase TAK-1, which may itself be regulated by two binding proteins, TAB1 and TAB2 [49]. Stimulation of the SAPK2 kinases culminates in phosphorylation of the serine kinases, MAPKAP kinase-2 and MAPKAP-kinase-3 leading to activation and HSP25/HSP27 phosphorylation. MAP-KAP-kinase-2 also phosphorylates CREB and ATF-1 [41-43] and therefore SAPK2s are capable of switching on genes whose promoters contain CRE elements or are sensitive to homo/heterodimers of the CREB/ATF and AP-1 families. Other physiological substrates are Elk1, SAP1, CHOP, MEF2C, MAPK-interacting protein kinase-1 (Mnk1 and Mnk2) [41,43,44,47]. Recently a further two members of the SAPK family have been identified which are activated in response to IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$ , SAPK3 and SAPK4 [44,47,48].

The upstream signalling mechanism for the activation of the stress activated kinase cascades in response to endotoxin and cytokines is still not established; however, the Rho family of GTPases, Rac1 and Cdc42Hs have been demonstrated to be involved in the activation of SAPK1 and 2 [43,47]. It is suggested that Rac/Cdc42Hs and SAPKs are coupled via the PAK family of proteins (p21 activated kinases) (PAKs 1–3). PAK-1 is activated by binding to the GTP bound form of Rac/Cdc42Hs and can induce activation of SAPKs [43]. How activation of these kinases leads to activation of stress activated kinases remains to be established; however, complexes of GTP-Cdc42Hs, PAK and MEKK1 have been demonstrated and in yeast, the PAK equivalent has been shown to activate the MEKK1 homologue. [49].

A further signalling mechanism proposed for both TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  is via the rapid breakdown of plasma membrane and subcellular membrane sphingomyelin by a variety of sphingomyelinases to generate ceramide [43,50-53]. Exogenously applied ceramide to cells or hydrolysis of sphingomyelin with sphingomyelinase results in activation of a ceramidedependent serine/threonine kinase and a protein phosphatase 2A-like activity which mimics many of the effects of TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$ , e.g. activation of stress activated kinases and MAPK activity, apoptosis, generation of ROIs, NF-kB translocation to the nucleus [50-52], and the dose-dependent relaxation of phenylephrine-contracted endothelium-denuded rat aortic rings [53]. It is suggested to couple to MAPK, SAPK1 and SAPK2 via activation of ceramide-dependent protein kinase.

The promoter-regulatory region of both the mouse and human iNOS genes contains a variety of possible regulatory sequences through which iNOS expression may be stimulated, including NF- $\kappa$ B, AP-1, NF-IL-6, interferon response elements,  $\gamma$ -activated sites and TNF- $\alpha$ -response elements. In macrophages, LPS inducibility of iNOS is dependent upon the NF-kB sequence and activation of NF-kB [16], while suppression of NF-KB activation in vivo prevents the induction of iNOS and the deleterious effects of endotoxin on blood pressure, responsiveness to vasoconstrictor agents, blood glucose and tissue damage [38]. The synergistic action of IFN- $\gamma$  in iNOS induction depends upon the interaction of interferon regulatory factor-1 with the interferon-regulatory binding factor site (reviewed in [39]); however, this may be tissue dependent as in murine macrophages IFN- $\gamma$ has been reported to cause accumulation of mRNA in the absence of an effect on the basal rate of iNOS transcription, suggesting it may stabilise the mRNA in addition to its transcriptional role [16]. Although activation of the NF-kB site is important for iNOS expression in other tissues, binding sites for other transcription factors in the downstream portion of

the iNOS 5'-flanking sequence are also critical for iNOS induction [40].

The mechanism by which iNOS expression through activation of NF-kB links to LPS and cytokines has recently been described (reviewed in [54]). In unstimulated cells, NF- $\kappa$ B is retained in the cytoplasm in an inactive complex with the inhibitory IKB proteins. TNF- $\alpha$ -induced trimerisation of the TNFR1 receptor results in recruitment of the TNFR-associated death-domain protein (TRADD), the TNFR-associated factor-2 (TRAF-2) and the serine/threonine kinase, receptor-interacting protein (RIP). TRAF-2 binds to a further serine/threonine MAP kinase kinase kinase family member, NF-κB inducing kinase (NIK), which itself associates with a complex of two further kinases, IKB kinase (IKK)  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ , initiating a kinase cascade leading to the phosphorylation of the  $I\kappa B$  proteins. There is evidence to suggest that IKKa is preferentially phosphorylated and activated by NIK [55], whereas MEKK1 has been postulated to preferentially phosphorylate and stimulate IKKB activity [56]. Phosphorylation of the IkB proteins by either of the IKKs leads to polyubiquitination and subsequent degradation of IkBs [54-56]. Degradation of IkB releases NF- $\kappa$ B and allows the NF- $\kappa$ B to translocate to the nucleus to activate its target genes [54]. Evidence suggests that IL-1 also activates NF-kB via a similar mechanism [54]. IL-1 induces the formation of a complex consisting of the IL-R1 receptor, an accessory protein, AcP, the serine/threonine kinase protein kinase IRAK, and a TRAF protein, TRAF-6. Like TRAF-2, TRAF-6 can also interact with NIK and activate the kinase cascade. TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  have also been proposed to activate NF-kB via stimulation of acidic sphingomyelinase and generation of ceramide [51,52]; however, the importance of this route has been questioned (reviewed in [52]).

Although it is evident that activation SAPK2 (p38) is involved in the LPS-induced release of TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  and both TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  activate SAPK2 (p38) and NF- $\kappa$ B, the role of the SAPK2 arm of the signal transduction pathway in NF- $\kappa$ B activation and iNOS expression is to be questioned. In addition to cytokines, arsenite and osmotic stress both potently activate SAPK2 in 293 cells; however, neither leads to NF- $\kappa$ B activation [57]. Similarly while numerous studies have demonstrated that antioxidants

abolish iNOS expression and NF-KB activation ([57,58] and references therein), they are reported to activate SAPK2 and AP-1 [57]. Recent studies indicate that SAPK2 activation occurs via TRAF-2, but that it is independent of NIK and NF-kB activation[59]. It is suggested that while it is a crucial mediator in TNF-induced activation of NF-kB-dependent gene expression, it is not involved in increasing NF- $\kappa$ B activation and translocation to the nucleus, but is important for the transcriptional activation by modulating the transactivation capacity of the NF- $\kappa$ B p65 subunit [59,60]. In contrast to this, the work of Guan et al. has suggested that in rat glomerular mesangial cells, IL-1ß activates iNOS expression and mRNA production, while at the same time it activates SAPK2, which acts as a negative regulator of iNOS expression [61], suggesting that the level of expression of iNOS may be dependent on the balance between the differential activation of the SAPK1 and 2 pathways within different tissues with different stimulants.

## 4. Inhibition of iNOS expression in endotoxic shock

While it is clear that IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, TNF- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\gamma$  play a role in the induction of iNOS during septic shock, it is evident that a variety of anti-inflammatory cytokines and other agents are also expressed which are able to antagonise this induction process [4,15]. For example, glucocorticoids are known to be elevated during sepsis and these can almost completely inhibit iNOS expression in a wide variety of cell types exposed to LPS, LTA or cytokines [4,15]. Dexamethasone is suggested to inhibit iNOS expression by the activated glucocorticoid receptor preventing the binding of NF- $\kappa$ B, but not AP-1, to the NOS II promoter, thereby preventing transcription [62]. Blocking NF-KB activation and iNOS expression by dexamethasone ameliorates the hypotension, hyporesponsiveness to vasoconstrictor agents, hypoglycaemia, lactic acidemia and liver and pancreatic injury [38]. Similarly cytokines such as TGF-B, IL-4, IL-8, IL-10 and macrophage deactivating factor are capable of suppressing iNOS activity (reviewed in [4,5]). Evidence suggests that TGF- $\beta$  reduces cytokine-induced iNOS activity by both inhibiting mRNA translation, decreasing its stability and increasing iNOS protein degradation, whereas IL-4 interferes with iNOS transcription [15,16].

The interaction of hormones which act via cAMP and agents which elevate cAMP is complex and tissue dependent. In vascular smooth muscle cells, rat mesangial cells, peritoneal macrophages and cardiac myocytes, an elevation of cAMP synergises with cytokines to increase the induction of iNOS (see [63] for references) and indeed an activation of protein kinase A has been demonstrated to be essential for iNOS expression by IL-1β in neonatal cardiac myocytes [64]. In contrast, in astrocytes and hepatocytes [63,65] NO production is diminished by elevating cyclic AMP with glucagon or forskolin. The latter occurs via a reduction in the rate of transcription and translation of the iNOS gene [63,65]. The physiological significance of this remains to be established; however, it is evident that a major feature of both sepsis and endotoxin administration to animals is hyperglucagonaemia and a decrease in the plasma insulin:glucagon ratio [63]. A recent study has indicated that treatment of rats with dibutyryl cAMP can increase blood flow through the liver, reduce the serum concentration of TNF- $\alpha$ , prevent liver necrosis and acute hepatic failure and increase survival following endotoxin treatment of galactosamine-sensitised animals [66]. Preliminary experiments in our laboratory have also demonstrated that glucagon pretreatment of rats results in a reduction of the endotoxin-induced increases in serum  $NO_2^- + NO_3^$ concentrations, gives a partial inhibition of hepatic iNOS induction and completely eliminates hepatic damage as judged by release of lactate dehydrogenase and aspartate aminotransferase activity, suggesting that an elevation of circulating concentrations of glucagon and steroids may help to limit tissue damage during sepsis. Elevating cAMP by isoproterenol administration has similarly been shown to block LPS-induced TNF- $\alpha$  secretion, increase circulating concentrations of IL-10 and IL-6 and reduce NO formation in mice [67]. In the same study, treatment of anaesthetised rats with isoproterenol prevented the endotoxin-induced hyporeactivity to norepinephrine suggesting an elevation of cAMP may be beneficial at multiple sites within the pathway. The mechanism by which cAMP exerts this negative effect on iNOS expression has not been established; however, cAMP and forskolin have been reported to inhibit SAPK1c

activity and c-Jun expression and AP-1 activation in vascular smooth muscle [68].

#### 5. NO and energy transduction in septic shock

Severe sepsis is characterised by a progressive failure of energy metabolism and a marked decrease in tissue oxygen extraction, resulting in tissue hypoxia and increased venous oxygen concentration in both septic patients and animal models [69]. Taken together with the lactic acidosis and acidemia, this suggests an impairment of oxygen utilisation, although this may also be caused by tissue hypoperfusion [2,69]. A number of studies, particularly using the endotoxic model of shock, have demonstrated an inhibition of respiration in liver, heart, skeletal muscle, kidney and brain; however, this has not been universally found and mitochondrial respiration has been reported to be either inhibited, unchanged or even stimulated during sepsis (reviewed in [69-71]). It is likely that the predominant effect on mitochondrial metabolism depends upon a number of factors including the method of inducing shock, whether by endotoxin or caecal ligation and perforation, the time period over which sepsis is induced, the dose of the inducing agent and the species.

Numerous studies have indicated that authentic NO or induction of iNOS in tissues by LPS or cytokines is accompanied by an inhibition of respiratory chain activity and accumulation of lactate. This has been demonstrated in vascular smooth muscle cells, hepatocytes, macrophages, astrocytes and cardiac myocytes (reviewed in [72]). It is now evident from studies using intact cells and isolated mitochondria that physiological levels of NO interact competitively with oxygen at cytochrome oxidase (complex IV) reversibly inhibiting  $O_2$  consumption [72]. The ability of NO to inhibit cytochrome oxidase and ATP synthesis therefore will be greater in areas of low oxygen tension (i.e. physiological O<sub>2</sub> conditions) and may be exacerbated in shock if there is redistribution of blood flow away from highly metabolic areas, compromising oxygen availability. An inhibition of cytochrome oxidase also increases the production of reactive oxygen intermediates  $(H_2O_2 \text{ and } O_2^-)$  by the mitochondrial respiratory chain which may lead to irreversible damage as a result of the NO interacting

with the  $O_2^-$  to form peroxynitrite (OONO<sup>-</sup>) [73]. Initial studies suggested that NO directly damages iron-sulphur centres in the mitochondrial electron transport chain; however, it is now evident that these centres are relatively insensitive to NO and that long term exposure to NO irreversibly inhibits complexes I, II, the ATPase and possibly III, but not complex IV as result formation of peroxynitrite (see [72] for references). Mitochondrial aconitase is also inhibited under these conditions resulting in an inhibition of both TCA cycle activity and respiration [74]. There is also potential for OONO<sup>-</sup> formation to be further enhanced by NO interacting with the haem of catalase, reversibly inactivating the enzyme and preventing  $H_2O_2$  breakdown, while encouraging superoxide dismutase (SOD)-dependent OONO<sup>-</sup> formation [72]. Peroxynitrite has also been shown to cause nitration and inhibition of SOD, making more  $O_2^-$  potentially available and setting up an autocatalytic cycle [75]. Experiments employing cell permeable SOD mimetics in immunostimulated macrophages suggest a role for both peroxynitrite-dependent and direct NO-dependent mechanism in the suppression of mitochondrial respiration [76].

It is now established that endotoxic or septic shock leads to substantial increase in levels of NO and biologically active OONO<sup>-</sup>. It has been demonstrated in the vicinity of large blood vessels such as thoracic aorta, in activated macrophages, endothelial cells, human neutrophils and in lungs of endotoxic animals [77,78]. The inhibition of respiration in macrophages and smooth muscle cells by OONO<sup>-</sup> is paralleled by DNA single strand breakage that triggers the activation of the nuclear repair enzyme, poly(ADP)ribosyltransferase (PARS) [78]. Activation of PARS results in ADP-ribosylation and depletion of intracellular  $NAD^+$ , which, together with the inhibition of the respiratory chain and TCA cycle activity, is proposed to result in decreased ATP formation and ultimately cell death (reviewed in [78]). Over-production of NO is also associated with inhibition of glyceraldehyde phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) by ribosylation and nitrosylation [79,80] resulting in an inhibition of glycolytic flux, thus contributing to defective energy production. The latter has been proposed to be important to tissue O<sub>2</sub> metabolism during sepsis, and to contribute to the contractile suppressing effects of NO in the vascular system in endotoxic shock [5].

The use of the inhibitors, 3-aminobenzamide and nicotinamide, has demonstrated the importance of the PARS pathway in septic shock. They are protective in the rat model of endotoxic shock and ameliorate the defects in cellular energy metabolism, maintain blood pressure by preventing loss of contractility and reduce the degree of endothelial cell dysfunction [78]. Inhibition of PARS activation by preventing OONO<sup>-</sup> formation by SOD mimetics also suppresses the inhibition of mitochondrial respiration in macrophages and cultured smooth muscle cells after immunostimulation and ameliorates the vascular hyporeactivity and endothelial dysfunction in thoracic aorta ex vivo in endotoxin-treated rats [78].

OONO<sup>-</sup> has also been implicated in the oxidation of mitochondrial thiols, mixed disulphides and NAD(P)H [81,82]. The latter has been suggested to lead to permeability transitions and depolarisation of the mitochondrial membrane, further compromising ATP synthesis and ability to sequester Ca<sup>2+</sup>, both of which are suggested to contribute to necrotic cell death or apoptotic cell death (reviewed in [81]). In addition, other cyclosporin-sensitive pathways have been suggested to account for alterations in Ca<sup>2+</sup> release by OONO<sup>-</sup>, possibly involving ADP-ribose, which do not involve changes in  $\Delta \Psi$  [82].

Although the above suggests that alterations in mitochondrial function via NO or OONO<sup>-</sup> are important in the development of cellular dysfunction during septic or endotoxic shock, this may not be applicable to all tissues. The initial work of Stadler et al. indicated that exposure of hepatocytes to authentic NO leads to a decrease in aconitase and complex I and II activity (although not complex IV) [83]. However, in contrast, endogenously generated NO by exposure to cytokines plus LPS or activated Kupffer cell supernatants results in only a minor NO-dependent depression of mitochondrial aconitase and no significant change in the other complexes [83,84]. Similarly induction of septic shock and NO synthesis by C. parvum injection into rats results in virtually no inhibition of mitochondrial activity [84]. Subsequent studies have demonstrated that the major inhibition of respiration in hepatocytes following cytokine addition is due to TNF- $\alpha$  via an NO-independent mechanism, possibly involving activation of the sphingomyelinase pathway [51,85]. This suggests that the importance of physiological concentrations

of NO at the level of the mitochondria is tissue specific and may not be relevant, particularly in tissues such as liver which have a high capacity to metabolise the NO.

## 6. NO and the vascular system

Excessive NO synthesis and induction of iNOS has been implicated in the cardiovascular dysfunction observed in both patients with septic shock and animal models of endotoxaemia (reviewed in [4,5]). It is evident that elevated production of NO in response to LPS, LTA and cytokines is due to an initial activation of eNOS followed by induction of iNOS resulting in vasodilation and hyporeactivity to pressor agents (epinephrine, vasopressin, angiotensin II, serotonin, calcium, potassium) [4,5,18]. Interestingly during the late phase of shock there is an impairment of the biosynthesis of NO by eNOS in vascular endothelium, the constitutive form being down-regulated as the inducible form is expressed [5]. Although iNOS induction occurs in the endothelial cells, the most important source of NO within the vessel wall is probably the vascular smooth muscle and iNOS derived from the vasculature is responsible for the excessive vasodilatation and hyporeactivity which is characteristic of the hypotension in shock. The work of Li et al. suggests that the level of induction of iNOS and production of NO within the vascular system at different anatomical sites may be variable, resulting in different degrees of vasodilatation and catecholamine insensitivity, with areas of underperfusion of metabolically active tissues and areas of over-perfusion of areas that are not metabolically active [86]. This may contribute to the deficient oxygen extraction, cell hypoxia and development of lactic acidosis characteristic of shock. [2].

In vivo, prevention of induction of iNOS by antiinflammatory cytokines, e.g. TGF- $\beta$ , glucocorticoids or neutralisation of proinflammatory cytokines and lipid mediators of shock (e.g. TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , PAF) improves haemodynamics in shock and reduces the hypotension and degree of vascular hyporeactivity [5]. Similarly the vasodilatation of the smooth muscles and the hyporeactivity can be reversed by both non-isoform selective inhibitors of NOS and inhibitors selective for iNOS [5] and are reduced in iNOS-deficient mice [29].

Induction of iNOS is also associated with timedependent vascular permeability changes, indicative of endothelial cell injury, which can be inhibited by dexamethasone [87]. This may result from the downregulation of eNOS expression by pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- $\alpha$ , or endothelial cell damage due to cytotoxic effects of NO as a result of iNOS expression, OONO<sup>-</sup> or oxygen derived radicals [88]. Excessive production of NO by iNOS has been shown to be cytotoxic towards endothelial cells [88], while the increased blood flow may augment direct injurious action on microvascular endothelium. The increase in systemic microvascular permeability, with loss of intravascular blood volume, may be a major factor contributing to the decrease in cardiac output seen in severe sepsis [2]. Inhibitors of NOS have been demonstrated to reduce the degree of endothelial cell dysfunction in rodent models of endotoxic shock and can attenuate the changes in vascular permeability and oedema formation induced by endotoxin and proinflammatory cytokines in a variety of tissues including skin, jejunum, ileum and colon (reviewed in [88]).

Excessive vasodilation in response to bacterial products and cytokines is suggested to be due to NO acting via both cGMP-dependent and cGMP-independent mechanisms [5]. NO produced in both the vascular smooth muscle and endothelial cells activates the soluble guanylate cyclase by binding to the haem moiety, causing an increase in cGMP formation and cGMP-dependent reduction of intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> and vascular relaxation [5,18]. Non-cGMP-dependent mechanisms are the result of direct effects of NO or OONO<sup>-</sup> on the vascular smooth muscle leading to reduced contractility by energy depletion, activation of Ca<sup>2+</sup>-dependent K<sup>+</sup> channels and ATP-sensitive K<sup>+</sup> channels [5].

Reduced myocardial performance is an important contributing factor in shock and induction of NOS in the myocardium has been demonstrated and proposed to be responsible for cardiac dysfunction in endotoxaemia [89]. Although induction of iNOS activity in the heart of animals exposed to endotoxin is relatively small when compared to other organs [19] (Fig. 2), it is clearly established that the expression of iNOS in isolated rat cardiac myocytes or papillary muscle cells exposed to TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$  or macrophage-conditioned medium is associated with an L-NMMA-attenuated reduction in myocardial contractility, decreased beating rate of myocytes and reduced inotropic response to isoproterenol (reviewed in [5]). Infusion of isolated hearts with IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$  induces iNOS and suppresses contraction [89], while cardiac myocytes isolated from endotoxic rats show impaired contractility which is ameliorated by dexamethasone and iNOS inhibitors [90]. In contrast, studies using Langendorff heart preparations prepared from endotoxic animals, rather than cardiac myocytes, failed to demonstrate an inhibition of the isoproterenol-inotropic response, while pretreatment of the animals with  $N^{\omega}$ -nitro-L-arginine or aminoguanidine prior to the endotoxin failed to improve left ventricular function [91]. Despite the fact that iNOS inhibitors were ineffective in these studies, dexamethasone pretreatment did inhibit the endotoxin-induced cardiac depression, suggesting mechanisms other than NO may also be important in the cardiac dysfunction in the intact heart [91].

NO produced in the heart is derived from both the expression of iNOS in the vascular and endocardial endothelium, coronary smooth muscle and cardiac myocytes and also the constitutive NOS in the coronary endothelium and the endocardium (reviewed in [5]). In addition to the expression of iNOS, impairment of eNOS in the coronary microvasculature may also play a role and lead to coronary vasoconstriction and myocardial ischaemia and decreased cardiac performance. Similarly it is proposed that the reduced production of NO from the endothelium would also enhance adhesion and aggregation of platelets and neutrophil granulocytes (via a reduction in cGMP) to the intima, possibly leading to further development of endothelial tissue injury (via oxygen radical and peroxynitrite-dependent mechanism) [5].

## 7. NO and liver function in septic shock

It is clearly established that iNOS is induced in the liver during endotoxic shock [19,30,83,84,92,93]. During sepsis, bacterial products interact with the Kupffer cells within the liver to cause the release of cytokines (IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, TNF- $\alpha$ ) which interact with

the adjacent hepatocytes to alter parenchymal cell function, ultimately leading to liver cell damage and liver failure. The studies of Billiar et al. have demonstrated that co-cultures of hepatocytes and Kupffer cells in the presence of LPS or cultures of hepatocytes in medium obtained from LPS+IFN-ystimulated Kupffer cells result in an L-arginine-dependent acute phase reactant synthesis and inhibition of protein synthesis (reviewed in [93]). This effect is coincident with the production of  $NO_2^- + NO_3^-$ , is inhibited by L-NMMA and reproduced using synthetic NO donors, suggesting the involvement of NO. Subsequent studies using both rat and human parenchymal cells have indicated that a mixture of cytokines, including IL-1 $\beta$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , IFN- $\gamma$  plus LPS, act synergistically to induce iNOS mRNA and protein, while LPS alone has no effect [24,93]. A similar inhibition of albumin synthesis by Kupffer cell-conditioned medium has also been observed in cultured hepatocytes, which can be mimicked by a combination of IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6 and TNF- $\alpha$  [95]. The mechanism underlying the effects of NO on protein synthesis remains to be established; however, it appears to reside at the level of translation [93].

Hepatic glucose production and hyperglycaemia are markedly increased in patients with sepsis, insulin resistance contributing to this process in the hypermetabolic phase of sepsis [96]. With overwhelming sepsis or animals treated with bacterial endotoxin (hypometabolic phase), an inhibition of hepatic gluconeogenesis in the face of elevated peripheral glucose utilisation occurs and hypoglycaemia develops (reviewed in [6,97]). NO has been implicated as a possible mediator in the inhibition of gluconeogenesis from in vitro [98] and in vivo [99] studies using artificial NO donors. This is supported by other studies indicating that the induction of NO synthase in cultured hepatocytes with a combination of LPS, IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$  coincides with a decreased rat of glucose formation [24,100-102]. The work of Stadler et al. [100] indicated that the inhibition of glucose output (glycogenolysis plus gluconeogenesis) by this combination of cytokines can be inhibited by L-NMMA suggesting an involvement of NO; however, attenuation of the response by NOS inhibitors has not been found in other studies, either in cultured hepatocytes [24] or hepatocytes freshly prepared from endotoxic rats treated with either L-

NMMA or aminoguanidine [101]. Similarly the inhibition of gluconeogenesis by endotoxin is still evident in the iNOS deficient mouse [101]. A more recent study has indicated that this cytokine combination results in an inhibition of both glycogenolysis and gluconeogenesis in cultured hepatocytes and that chronic treatment of the cells with glucagon attenuates iNOS induction and the inhibition of glucose synthesis [102]. The use of NO synthase inhibitors in this study reveals that NO plays an important role in the inhibition of glucose output when cells are stimulated with insulin: however, it makes a very minor contribution to the inhibition of glucose synthesis observed in steroid-treated cells. Under the latter conditions, the formation of reactive oxygen intermediates is proposed to make the major contribution to the inhibition of glucose output [102], although a ceramide-dependent inhibition of glucose output has also been reported which is independent of NO synthesis [6]. It is postulated that the extent to which NO is involved in this process is dependent upon the hormonal milieu and the site(s) at which metabolic control is exerted within the pathway at any given time. Recent evidence in favour of the involvement of NO in the development of hypoglycaemic phase of sepsis has come from the study of Ruetten and Thiemermann [38] which demonstrates that administration of the calpain 1 inhibitor to rats to prevent IkB degradation prevents both iNOS induction in both lung and liver and also the development of the hypoglycaemia characteristic of endotoxin treatment.

A significant feature of septic or endotoxic shock is hepatocellular failure and liver damage, with the release of aspartate aminotransferase, ornithine carbamoyl transferase and lactate dehydrogenase into the bloodstream as seen in the onset of MODS. A number of studies have implicated NO as a contributing factor to liver damage by employing in vivo treatment of animals with NOS inhibitors; however, the precise role for NO has been difficult to determine because of the use of non-specific NO synthase inhibitors. Billiar et al. have demonstrated that in the C. parvum plus LPS murine model of endotoxic shock, a bolus injection of L-NMMA together with the LPS prevents NO formation; however, it substantially exacerbates the endotoxin-induced liver injury [93]. The liver damage is associated with increased numbers of microinfarcts and platelet thrombi within the small vessels and it has been suggested that inhibition of NO synthesis causes disturbances of blood flow resulting from platelet adhesion and aggregation, vasoconstriction, clot formation and subsequent ischaemia with  $O_2^-$  production. In these studies, the effect of L-NMMA was exaggerated by the presence of aspirin, suggesting that NO and prostacyclins act together to maintain hepatic blood flow during sepsis, whereas it is abrogated by coadministration of superoxide dismutase or deferroxamine, suggesting that NO may also function by preventing damage by reactive oxygen radicals ([93] and references therein). A more recent study employing infusion of a combination of either non-specific or more iNOS-selective inhibitors together with LPS has confirmed that the non-selective inhibitors lead to an exacerbation of liver damage and an increase in LPS-induced necrosis [94]. The increased necrosis is associated with, but independent of increased ICAM-1 expression and neutrophil migration into the liver. Co-infusion of O<sup>2</sup>-vinyl 1-(pyrrolidin-1-yl)diazen-1ium-1,2-diolate (V-PYRRO/NO) to deliver exogenous NO at the level of the liver reversed the effects of the non-selective NOS inhibitors, confirming a protective effect of NO. V-PYRRO/NO infusion did not inhibit the basal LPS-induced damage indicative of the involvement of non-NO mediated mechanisms [94], which is supported by the finding that liver injury is also a feature of the iNOS-deficient mouse following treatment with LPS [29]. In the study of Ou et al. specific iNOS inhibition did not affect liver necrosis, ICAM-1 expression or neutrophil infiltration suggesting that NO produced by eNOS has the major protective role in limiting inflammation-induced tissue damage. In contrast to the above study, a model using a bolus injection of selective iNOS inhibitors has suggested that overproduction of NO by iNOS may also play a significant role in inducing hepatic damage and MODS in rodent models of endotoxic shock (reviewed in [4]). These inhibitors, based upon substituted guanidines or isothiurea derivatives, have been shown to attenuate liver dysfunction, under conditions where L-NMMA exacerbated hepatic damage. In support of this, prevention of IkB degradation by the calpain 1 inhibitor or blocking NF-kB activation with dexamethasone to prevent iNOS induction attenuates the

onset of MODS and liver damage in the rat model of endotoxic shock further strengthening the role of enhanced NO formation by iNOS being detrimental [38]. However, other mechanisms in addition to iNOS induction cannot be completely eliminated using this approach as the induction of other proteins such as COX-2 which are also induced via an NFκB-dependent mechanism would also be inhibited. Although the extent of the involvement of iNOS in causing liver necrosis is unclear, it is evident that it is the inhibition of the constitutive eNOS and not iNOS which exacerbates the LPS-induced liver damage in studies employing non-specific NOS inhibitors. It is likely that in reality liver damage and MODS are actually a combination of excessive NO, alterations in liver perfusion as a result of disturbances in the hepatic microcirculation and the generation and interaction of other factors with NO, e.g. reactive oxygen intermediates.

A similar situation to that in liver has also been observed in the rat small intestine. Induction of iNOS following in vivo endotoxin challenge is associated with a reduction in cell viability, mitochondrial dysfunction, vasocongestion and plasma exudation into the intestinal lumen [103–105]. Pretreatment with L-NMMA prevents NO formation; however, it enhances the endotoxin-induced intestinal damage and plasma leak [104], while NO donors attenuate this damage [106]. Inhibition of iNOS induction by pretreatment with dexamethasone or specific inhibition of NO formation with selective iNOS inhibitors also results in attenuation of cell damage, mitochondrial dysfunction and intestinal hyperpermeability [103,105], suggesting that NO formed by the constitutive enzyme aids in the maintenance of microvascular flow and epithelial cell integrity, while excessive NO production due to iNOS contributes to cell damage and accumulation of fluid within the intestinal lumen [103,105].

## 8. NO and apoptosis in septic shock

In addition to death by necrosis, cells may also undergo programmed cell death or apoptosis. Apoptosis and DNA fragmentation have been demonstrated in a variety of tissues following endotoxin treatment of the rat, including liver, lung, kidneys, thymocytes and intestine [107,108], although in the liver of non-sensitised animals this occurs in a very small proportion of cells [94,107]. The importance of NO in apoptosis is complex and outside the scope of this review; however, NO has been shown to suppress apoptosis in a number of cell types including endothelial cells, lymphocytes, eosinophils and hepatocytes, whereas it has been shown to induce apoptosis in macrophages, *B*-cells and thymocytes (reviewed in [109]). The ultimate effect of NO is likely to depend upon the tissue type, source and concentration of NO and duration of treatment [109]. Recent studies in liver have demonstrated that significant apoptosis only occurs when LPS is infused together with a NOS inhibitor [94]. This can be prevented by simultaneous administration of the liverspecific NO donor, V-PYRRO/NO, indicative of a protective role of NO. In contrast to necrosis, iNOS-specific inhibitors are equally potent with non-specific inhibitors in inducing apoptosis, suggesting that the inhibition of apoptosis is the result of iNOS expression in the liver or a combination of both iNOS and eNOS activity [94]. The mechanisms underlying the effects of NO on apoptosis remain to be fully elucidated. NO appears to be able to protect cells from apoptosis by several mechanisms. Large quantities of NO generated by iNOS protect from TNF- $\alpha$ -induced apoptosis by induction of heat shock protein 70, whereas small quantities block via mechanisms involving inhibition of caspase-3-like protease activation, possibly via S-nitrosylation of the protein ([94,109] and references therein). In contrast, the induction of apoptosis by high concentrations of NO may reflect direct DNA damage in the susceptible tissues [109].

## 9. Conclusion

In conclusion, it is evident that excessive production of NO following the induction of iNOS as a result of an increased circulating cytokine concentration makes a major contribution to the development of the characteristic symptoms of septic or endotoxic shock. However, it is evident that in many cases an increase in NO by itself may be insufficient, and the generation of other mediators, e.g. reactive oxygen intermediates, may also play a crucial role in the tissue dysfunction and damage observed in septic shock and MODS. Indeed NO produced by both eNOS and in some cases iNOS may be beneficial and ameliorate the tissue damage and apoptosis associated with septic shock. Much of our knowledge concerning the involvement of NO has been derived from isolated cell or tissue systems (frequently using rodent tissue and rodent models of shock), and the use of non-specific inhibitors of NO synthases. Although these produce useful insights into the physiological situation in man, extrapolation of the data needs to be approached with some caution. For example, in vitro experiments rarely take into account the interplay with the effects of counter-regulatory factors which are also elevated during septic shock. e.g. increased circulating concentrations of cytokines (IL-10, TGF- $\beta$ ), steroid hormones and cAMP mediated hormones (glucagon and catecholamines), while rodent tissue is relatively insensitive to endotoxin and cytokines, relative to that of humans [5]. Similarly the use of non-specific NO synthase inhibitors has led to contradictory interpretations because of the inhibition of both the constitutive and inducible forms of NOS. With the development and increased availability of iNOS specific inhibitors, this problem should be resolved and the results from clinical trials employing these agents should allow us to better understand the role of excessive NO production in shock in man.

## Acknowledgements

As a result of limitations in space, it has been necessary to limit references to review articles. My apologies to all those colleagues whose work has contributed to this review but has not been cited.

## References

- R.C. Bone, Gram-positive organisms and sepsis, Arch. Intern. Med. 154 (1994) 26–34.
- [2] E.C. Rackow, M.E. Astiz, Pathophysiology and treatment of septic shock, J. Am. Med. Assoc. 266 (1991) 548–554.
- [3] G.M. Millar, C. Thiemermann, NO in septic shock, in: M.S. Goligorski, S. Gross (Eds.), Nitric Oxide and the Kidney. Physiology and Pathophysiology, Chapman and Hall, New York, 1997, pp. 271–306.

- [4] C. Thiemermann, Nitric oxide and septic shock, Gen. Pharmacol. 29 (1997) 159–166.
- [5] R. Kilbourn, Nitric oxide and shock, Dis. Mon. 43 (1997) 281–348.
- [6] E.D. Ceppi, F.S. Smith, M.A. Titheradge, Nitric oxide, sepsis and liver metabolism, Biochem. Soc. Trans. 25 (1997) 929–934.
- [7] S.J. De Kimpe, M. Kengatharan, C. Thiemermann, J.R. Vane, The cell wall components peptidoglycan and lipoteichoic acid from *Staphylococcus aureus* act in synergy to cause shock and multiple organ failure, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 92 (1995) 10359–10363.
- [8] S.J. De Kimpe, M.L. Hunter, C.E. Bryant, C. Thiemermann, J.R. Vane, Delayed circulatory failure due to induction of nitric oxide synthase by lipoteichoic acid from *Staphylococcus aureus* in anaesthetised rats, Br. J. Pharmacol. 114 (1995) 1317–1323.
- [9] A. Waage, A. Halstensen, R. Shalaby, P. Brandtzaeg, P. Kierulf, T. Espevik, Local production of tumor necrosis factor-alpha, interleukin-1, and interleukin-6 in meningococcal meningitis Relation to the inflammatory response, J. Exp. Med. 170 (1989) 1859–1867.
- [10] D. Heumann, C. Barras, A. Severin, M.P. Glauser, A. Tomasz, Gram-positive cell walls stimulate synthesis of tumor necrosis factor alpha and interleukin-6 by human monocytes, Infect. Immun. 62 (1994) 2715–2721.
- [11] D.D. Rees, S. Cellek, R.M.J. Palmer, S. Moncada, Dexamethasone prevents the induction by endotoxin of a nitric oxide synthase and the associated effects on vascular tone: an insight into endotoxin shock, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 173 (1990) 541–547.
- [12] C. Natanson, P.W. Eichenholz, R.L. Danner, P.Q. Eichacker, W.D. Hoffman, G.C. Kuo, S.M. Banks, T.J. Macvittie, J.E. Parrillo, Endotoxin and tumor necrosis factor challenges in dogs simulate the cardiovascular profile of human septic shock, J. Exp. Med. 169 (1989) 823–832.
- [13] A. Novogrodsky, A. Vanichkin, M. Patya, A. Gazit, N. Osherov, A. Levitzki, Prevention of lipopolysaccharide-induced lethal toxicity by tyrosine kinase inhibitors, Science 264 (1994) 1319–1322.
- [14] R.G. Knowles, S. Moncada, Nitric oxide synthases in mammals, Biochem. J. 298 (1994) 249–258.
- [15] S.M. Morris, T.R. Billiar, New insights into the regulation of inducible nitric oxide synthesis, Am. J. Physiol. 266 (1994) E829–E839.
- [16] C. Nathan, Nitric-oxide as a secretory product of mammalian cells, FASEB J. 6 (1992) 3051–3064.
- [17] S. Moncada, R.M.J. Palmer, E.A. Higgs, Nitric oxide: physiology, pathophysiology and pharmacology, Pharmacol. Rev. 43 (1991) 109–142.
- [18] R.G. Knowles, S. Moncada, Nitric oxide as a signal in blood vessels, Trends Biochem. Sci. 17 (1992) 399–402.
- [19] M. Salter, R.G. Knowles, S. Moncada, Widespread tissue distribution, species distribution and changes in activity of Ca<sup>2+</sup>-dependent and Ca<sup>2+</sup>-independent nitric oxide synthases, FEBS Lett. 291 (1991) 145–149.

- [20] J. Gomez-Jimenez, A. Salgado, M. Mourelle, M.C. Martin, R.M. Segura, R. Peracaula, S. Moncada, Nitric oxide pathway in endotoxemia and human septic shock, Crit. Care Med. 23 (1995) 253–257.
- [21] M. Kengatharan, S.J. De Kimpe, C. Thiemermann, Analysis of the signal transduction in the induction of nitric oxide synthase by lipoteichoic acid in macrophages, Br. J. Pharmacol. 117 (1996) 1163–1170.
- [22] M. Bucher, K.P. Ittner, M. Zimmermann, K. Wolf, J. Hobbhahn, A. Kurtz, Nitric oxide synthase isoform III gene expression in rat liver is up-regulated by lipopolysaccharide and lipoteichoic acid, FEBS Lett. 412 (1997) 511–514.
- [23] R.D. Curran, T.R. Billiar, D.J. Stuehr, J.B. Ochoa, B.G. Harbrecht, S.G. Flint, R.L. Simmons, Multiple cytokines are required to induce hepatocyte nitric oxide production and inhibit total protein synthesis, Ann. Surg. 212 (1990) 462–469.
- [24] E.D. Ceppi, F.S. Smith, M.A. Titheradge, Effect of multiple cytokines plus bacterial endotoxin on glucose and nitric oxide production by cultured hepatocytes, Biochem. J. 317 (1996) 503–507.
- [25] C. Szabo, C. Wu, S. Gross, C. Thiemermann, M. Perretti, J. Vane, Interleukin-1 contributes to the induction of nitric oxide synthase by endotoxin in vivo, Eur. J. Pharmacol. 250 (1993) 157–160.
- [26] C. Szabo, G.J. Southan, C. Thiemermann, Beneficial effects and improved survival in rodent models of septic shock with S-methylisothiourea sulfate, a potent and selective inhibitor of inducible nitric oxide synthase, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 91 (1994) 12472–12476.
- [27] E. Nava, R.M.J. Palmer, S. Moncada, Inhibition of nitric oxide synthesis in septic shock: how much is beneficial?, Lancet 338 (1991) 1555–1557.
- [28] F. Hinder, M. Booke, L. Traber, N. Matsumoto, K. Nishida, S. Roger, D.L. Traber, Nitric oxide synthase inhibition during experimental sepsis improves renal excretory function in the presence of chronically elevated atrial natriuretic peptide, Crit. Care Med. 24 (1996) 131–136.
- [29] J.D. Macmicking, C. Nathan, G. Hom, N. Chartrain, D.S. Fletcher, M. Trumbauer, K. Stevens, Q.W. Xie, K. Sokol, N. Hutchinson, H. Chen, J.S. Mudgett, Altered responses to bacterial-infection and endotoxic-shock in mice lacking inducible nitric-oxide synthase, Cell 81 (1995) 641–650.
- [30] R.G. Knowles, M. Salter, S.L. Brooks, S. Moncada, Antiinflammatory glucocorticoids inhibit the induction by endotoxin of nitric oxide synthase in the lung, liver and aorta of the rat, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 172 (1990) 1042– 1048.
- [31] C. Szabo, C. Thiemermann, C.C. Wu, M. Perretti, J.R. Vane, Attenuation of the induction of nitric oxide synthase by endogenous glucocorticoids, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 91 (1994) 271–275.
- [32] C.A. Salkowski, C. Detore, R. McNally, N. van Rooijen, S.N. Vogel, Regulation of inducible nitric oxide synthase messenger RNA expression and nitric oxide production by lipopolysaccharide in vivo – The roles of macrophages, en-

dogenous IFN-gamma, and TNF receptor-1-mediated signaling, J. Immunol. 158 (1997) 905–912.

- [33] J.C. Lee, P.R. Young, Role of Csbp/P38/Rk stress-response kinase in Lps and cytokine signaling mechanisms, J. Leukocyte Biol. 59 (1996) 152–157.
- [34] R.-Y. Yang, M.R. Mark, A. Gray, A. Huang, M.H. Xie, M. Zhang, A. Goddard, W.I. Wood, A.L. Gurney, P.J. God-owski, Toll-like receptor-2 mediates lipopolysaccharide-in-duced cellular signalling, Nature 395 (1998) 284–288.
- [35] R. Dziarski, Y.P. Jin, D. Gupta, Differential activation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase (Erk)1, Erk2, P38, and C-Jun NH<sub>2</sub>-terminal kinase mitogen-activated protein-kinases by bacterial peptidoglycan, J. Infect. Dis. 174 (1996) 777–785.
- [36] J. Saklatvala, W. Davis, F. Guesdon, Interleukin 1 (IL1) and tumour necrosis factor (TNF) signal transduction, Phil. Trans. R. Soc. London B 351 (1996) 151–157.
- [37] H. Ruetten, C. Thiemermann, Effects of tyrphostins and genistein on the circulatory failure and organ dysfunction caused by endotoxin in the rat: a possible role for protein tyrosine kinase, Br. J. Pharmacol. 122 (1997) 59–70.
- [38] H. Ruetten, C. Thiemermann, Effect of calpain inhibitor I, an inhibitor of the proteolysis of I kappa B, on the circulatory failure and multiple organ dysfunction caused by endotoxin in the rat, Br. J. Pharmacol. 121 (1997) 695–704.
- [39] A. Papapetropoulos, W.C. Sessa, Regulation of the NOS gene family, in: M.S. Goligorski, S.S. Gross (Eds.), Nitric Oxide and the Kidney. Physiology and Pathophysiology, Chapman and Hall, New York, 1997, pp. 66–85.
- [40] M.A. Perrella, C. Patterson, L. Tan, S.F. Yet, C.M. Hsieh, M. Yoshizumi, M.E. Lee, Suppression of interleukin-1-betainduced nitric-oxide synthase promoter/enhancer activity by transforming growth-factor-beta-1 in vascular smoothmuscle cells – Evidence for mechanisms other than NF-Kappa-B, J. Biol. Chem. 271 (1996) 13776–13780.
- [41] J.M. Kyriakis, J. Avruch, Sounding the alarm: protein kinase cascades activated by stress and inflammation, J. Biol. Chem. 271 (1996) 24313–24316.
- [42] J.R. Woodgett, J.M. Kyriakis, J. Avruch, L.I. Zon, B. Zanke, D.J. Templeton, Reconstitution of novel signalling cascades responding to cellular stresses, Phil. Trans. R. Soc. London B 351 (1996) 135–142.
- [43] J.M. Kyriakis, J. Avruch, Protein kinase cascades activated by stress and inflammatory cytokines, Bioessays 18 (1996) 567–577.
- [44] P. Cohen, The search for physiological substrates of MAP and SAP kinases in mammalian cells, Trends Cell Biol. 7 (1997) 353–361.
- [45] P. Uciechowski, J. Saklatvala, J. Vonderohe, K. Resch, M. Szamel, M. Kracht, Interleukin-1 activates Jun N-terminal kinases Jnk1 and Jnk2 but not extracellular regulated MAP kinase (Erk) in human glomerular mesangial cells, FEBS Lett. 394 (1996) 273–278.
- [46] R. Beyaert, A. Cuenda, W. Vanden Berghe, S. Plaisance, J.C. Lee, G. Haegman, P. Cohen, W. Fiers, The p38/RK mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway regulates interleu-

kin-6 synthesis in response to tumour necrosis factor, EMBO J. 15 (1996) 1914–1923.

- [47] S. Lawler, A. Cuenda, M. Goedert, P. Cohen, SKK4, a novel activator of stress-activated protein kinase-1 (SAPK1/JNK), FEBS Lett. 414 (1997) 153–158.
- [48] A. Cuenda, P. Cohen, V. BueeScherrer, M. Goedert, Activation of stress-activated protein kinase-3 (SAPK3) by cytokines and cellular stresses is mediated via SAPKK3 (MKK6); comparison of the specificities of SAPK3 and SAPK2 (RK/p38), EMBO J. 16 (1997) 295–305.
- [49] A. Paul, S. Wilson, C.M. Belham, C.J.M. Robinson, P.H. Scott, G.W. Gould, R. Plevin, Stress-activated protein kinases: activation, regulation and function, Cell. Signal. 9 (1997) 403–410.
- [50] R. Kolesnick, D.W. Golde, The sphingomyelin pathway in tumor necrosis factor and interleukin-1 signaling, Cell 77 (1994) 325–328.
- [51] J.C. Fernandez-Checa, N. Kaplowitz, C. Garcia-Ruiz, A. Colell, M. Miranda, M. Mari, E. Ardite, A. Morales, GSH transport in mitochondria: defense against TNF-induced ox-idative stress and alcohol-induced defect, Am. J. Physiol. 273 (1997) G7–G17.
- [52] A. Gómez-Muñoz, Modulation of cell signalling by ceramides, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1391 (1998) 92–109.
- [53] D.G. Johns, H. Osborn, R.C. Webb, A novel cell signaling mechanism for vasodilation, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 237 (1997) 95–97.
- [54] P.A. Baeuerle, Pro-inflammatory signalling: last pieces in the NF-κB puzzle?, Curr. Biol. 8 (1998) R19–R22.
- [55] L. Ling, Z. Cao, D.V. Goeddel, NF-κB-inducing kinase activates IKK-α by phosphorylation of Ser-176, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 95 (1998) 3792–3797.
- [56] H. Nakano, M. Shindo, S. Sakon, S. Nishinaka, M. Mihara, H. Yagita, K. Okumura, Differential regulation of IκB kinase α and β by two upstream kinases, NF-κK-inducing kinase and mitogen-activated protein kinase/ERK kinase kinase-1, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 95 (1998) 3537–3542.
- [57] S. Wesselborg, M.K.A. Bauer, M. Vogt, M.L. Schmitz, K. Schulze Osthoff, Activation of transcription factor NF-kappa B and p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase is mediated by distinct and separate stress effector pathways, J. Biol. Chem. 272 (1997) 12422–12429.
- [58] D.L. Duval, D.R. Miller, J. Collier, R.E. Billings, Characterization of hepatic nitric oxide synthase: identification as the cytokine-inducible form primarily regulated by oxidants, Mol. Pharmacol. 50 (1996) 277–284.
- [59] I. Carpentier, W. Declercq, N.L. Malinin, D. Wallach, W. Fiers, R. Beyaert, TRAF2 plays a dual role in NF-κB-dependent gene activation by mediating the TNF-induced activation of p38 MAPK and IκB kinase pathways, FEBS Lett. 425 (1998) 195–198.
- [60] W. Vanden Berghe, S. Plaisance, E. Boone, K. De Bosscher, M.L. Schmitz, W. Fiers, G. Haegeman, p38 and extracellular signal-regulated kinase mitogen-activated protein kinase pathways are required for nuclear factor-κB p65 transactiva-

tion mediated by tumour necrosis factor, J. Biol. Chem. 273 (1998) 3285–3290.

- [61] Z.H. Guan, L.D. Baier, A.R. Morrison, p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase down-regulates nitric oxide and up-regulates prostaglandin E(2) biosynthesis stimulated by interleukin-1 beta, J. Biol. Chem. 272 (1997) 8083–8089.
- [62] H. Kleinert, C. Euchenhofer, I. Ihrigbiedert, U. Forstermann, Glucocorticoids inhibit the induction of nitric-oxide synthase-II by down-regulating cytokine-induced activity of transcription factor nuclear factor-Kappa-B, Mol. Pharmacol. 49 (1996) 15–21.
- [63] F.S. Smith, E.D. Ceppi, M.A. Titheradge, Inhibition of cytokine-induced inducible nitric oxide synthase expression by glucagon and cAMP in cultured hepatocytes, Biochem. J. 326 (1997) 187–192.
- [64] C.V. Oddis, R.L. Simmons, B.G. Hattler, M.S. Finkel, Protein kinase A activation is required for IL-1-induced nitricoxide production by cardiac myocytes, Am. J. Physiol. 40 (1996) C429–C434.
- [65] B.G. Harbrecht, E.M. Wirant, Y.-M. Kim, T.R. Billiar, Glucagon inhibits hepatocyte nitric oxide synthesis, Arch. Surg. 131 (1996) 1266–1272.
- [66] S. Kasai, A. Kakisaka, K. Kudo, M. Mito, Protective effects of dibutyryl cyclic AMP on acute hepatic failure in rats, J. Surg. Res. 66 (1996) 75–80.
- [67] C. Szabo, G. Hasko, B. Zingarelli, Z.H. Nemeth, A.L. Salzman, V. Kvetan, S.M. Pastores, E.S. Vizi, Isoproterenol regulates tumour necrosis factor, interleukin-10, interleukin-6 and nitric oxide production and protects against the development of vascular hyporeactivity in endotoxaemia, Immunology 90 (1997) 95–100.
- [68] G.N. Rao, M.S. Runge, Cyclic AMP inhibition of thrombininduced growth in vascular smooth muscle cells correlates with decreased JNK1 activity and c-Jun expression, J. Biol. Chem. 271 (1996) 20805–20810.
- [69] J.M. Harkema, R.E. Dean, R.N. Stephan, I.H. Chaudry, Cellular dysfunction in sepsis, J. Crit. Care 5 (1990) 62–69.
- [70] M. Astiz, E.C. Rackow, M.H. Weil, W. Schumer, Early impairment of oxidative metabolism and energy production in severe sepsis, Circ. Shock 26 (1988) 311–320.
- [71] L. Mela-Riker, H. Tavakoli, Effect of endotoxin on mitochondrial function, in: L.J. Berry (Ed.), Handbook of Endotoxin. Cellular Biology of Endotoxin, vol. 3, 1985, pp. 166–184.
- [72] G.C. Brown, A.G. McBride, E.J. Fox, K.S. McNaught, V. Borutaite, Nitric oxide and oxygen metabolism, Biochem. Soc. Trans. 25 (1997) 901–904.
- [73] J.J. Poderoso, M.C. Carreras, C. Lisdero, N. Riobo, F. Schopfer, A. Boveris, Nitric-oxide inhibits electron-transfer and increases superoxide radical production in rat-heart mitochondria and submitochondrial particles, Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 328 (1996) 85–92.
- [74] L. Castro, M. Rodriguez, R. Radi, Aconitase is readily inactivated by peroxynitrite, but not by its precursor, nitric oxide, J. Biol. Chem. 269 (1994) 29409–29415.

- [75] L.A. MacMillan-Crow, J.P. Crow, J.D. Kerby, J.S. Beckman, J.A. Thompson, Nitration and inactivation of manganese superoxide dismutase in chronic rejection of human renal-allografts, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 93 (1996) 11853–11858.
- [76] C. Szabo, B.J. Day, A.L. Salzman, Evaluation of the relative contribution of nitric-oxide and peroxynitrite to the suppression of mitochondrial respiration in immunostimulated macrophages using a manganese mesoporphyrin superoxide-dismutase mimetic and peroxynitrite, FEBS Lett. 381 (1996) 82–86.
- [77] J.S. Beckman, The physiological and pathological chemistry of nitric oxide, in: Nitric Oxide: Principles and Actions, Academic Press, New York, 1996, pp. 1–82.
- [78] C. Szabo, Role of poly(ADP-ribose) synthetase activation in the suppression of cellular energetics in response to nitric oxide and peroxynitrite, Biochem. Soc. Trans. 25 (1997) 919–924.
- [79] S. Dimmeler, F. Lottspeich, B. Brüne, Nitric oxide causes ADP-ribosylation and inhibition of glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase, J. Biol. Chem. 267 (1992) 16771– 16774.
- [80] L. Molina y Vedia, B. McDonald, B. Reep, B. Brüne, M. Di Silvio, T.R. Billiar, E.G. Lapetina, Nitric oxide-induced Snitrosylation of glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase inhibits enzymatic activity and increases endogenous ADPribosylation, J. Biol. Chem. 267 (1992) 24929–24932.
- [81] M.A. Packer, J.L. Scarlett, S.W. Martin, M.P. Murphy, Induction of mitochondrial permeability transition by peroxynitrite, Biochem. Soc. Trans. 25 (1997) 909–914.
- [82] C. Richter, P. Ghafourifar, M. Schweizer, R. Laffranchi, Nitric oxide and mitochondrial Ca<sup>2+</sup>, Biochem. Soc. Trans. 25 (1997) 914–918.
- [83] J. Stadler, T.R. Billiar, R.D. Curran, D.J. Stuehr, J.B. Ochoa, R.L. Simmons, Effect of exogenous and endogenous nitric oxide on mitochondrial respiration of rat hepatocytes, Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol. 260 (1991) C910–C916.
- [84] J. Stadler, R.D. Curran, J.B. Ochoa, B.G. Harbrecht, R.A. Hoffman, R.L. Simmons, T.R. Billiar, Effect of endogenous nitric oxide on mitochondrial respiration of rat hepatocytes in vitro and in vivo, Arch. Surg. 126 (1991) 186–191.
- [85] J. Stadler, B.G. Bentz, B.G. Harbrecht, M. Disilvio, R.D. Curran, T.R. Billiar, R.A. Hoffman, R.L. Simmons, Tumornecrosis-factor-alpha inhibits hepatocyte mitochondrial respiration, Ann. Surg. 216 (1992) 539–546.
- [86] T. Li, K. Croce, R. Winquist, Regional differences in the effects of septic shock on the vessel reactivity in the rabbit, J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 261 (1992) 959–963.
- [87] N.K. Boughton-Smith, S.M. Evans, F. Laszlo, B.J.R. Whittle, S. Moncada, The induction of nitric oxide synthase and intestinal vascular permeability by endotoxin in the rat, Br. J. Pharmacol. 110 (1993) 1189–1195.
- [88] B.J.R. Whittle, Nitric oxide in physiology and pathology, Histochem. J. 27 (1995) 727–737.
- [89] R. Shulz, E. Nava, S. Moncada, Induction and potential biological relevance of a Ca<sup>2+</sup>-independent nitric oxide syn-

thase in the myocardium, Br. J. Pharmacol. 105 (1992) 575–580.

- [90] A.J.B. Brady, W.P.A. Poole, S.E. Harding, J.B. Warren, Nitric oxide production within cardiac myocytes reduces their contractility in endotoxemia, Am. J. Physiol. 263 (1992) H1963–H1966.
- [91] R. Klabunde, A. Coston, Nitric oxide synthase inhibition does not prevent cardiac depression in endotoxic shock, Shock 3 (1995) 73–78.
- [92] R.G. Knowles, M. Merrett, M. Salter, S. Moncada, Differential induction of brain, lung and liver nitric oxide synthase by endotoxin in the rat, Biochem. J. 270 (1990) 833– 836.
- [93] M. Di Silvio, A.K. Nussler, D.A. Geller, T.R. Billiar, A role for nitric oxide in liver inflammation and infection, in: Nitric Oxide: Principles and Actions, Academic Press, New York, 1996, pp. 219–236.
- [94] J.H. Ou, T.M. Carlos, S.C. Watkins, J.E. Saavedra, L.K. Keefer, Y.-M. Kim, B.G. Harbrecht, T.R. Billiar, Differential effects of non-selective nitric oxide synthase (NOS) and selective inducible NOS inhibition on hepatic necrosis, apoptosis, ICAM-1 expression and neutrophil accumulation during endotoxemia, Nitric Oxide Biol. Chem. 1 (1997) 404–416.
- [95] P.W.J. Kowalski-Saunders, P.J. Winwood, M.J.P. Arthur, R. Wright, Reversible inhibition of albumin production by rat hepatocytes maintained on a laminin-rich gel (Engelbreth-Holm-Swarm) in response to secretory products of Kupffer cells and cytokines, Hepatology 16 (1992) 733– 741.
- [96] D.W. Wilmore, L.H. Aulick, M.C. Powamda, H.D. Mason, B.A. Pruitt, Effect of injury and infection on visceral metabolism and circulation, Ann. Surg. 192 (1980) 491–504.
- [97] M.A. Titheradge, R.G. Knowles, F.S. Smith, R.A. Horton, E.D. Ceppi, Mechanism of inhibition of hepatic gluconeogenesis by bacterial endotoxin – a role for nitric-oxide, Biochem. Soc. Trans. 23 (1995) 1002–1008.
- [98] R.A. Horton, E.D. Ceppi, R.G. Knowles, M.A. Titheradge, Inhibition of hepatic gluconeogenesis by nitric oxide: a comparison with endotoxic shock, Biochem. J. 299 (1994) 735–739.
- [99] M. Casado, M.J.M. Diaz-Guerra, L. Bosca, P. Martin-Sanz, Characterization of nitric oxide dependent changes in carbohydrate hepatic metabolism during septic shock, Life Sci. 57 (1996) 561–572.
- [100] J. Stadler, D. Barton, H. Beilmoeller, S. Diekmann, C. Hierholzer, W. Erhard, C.D. Heidecke, Hepatocyte nitric oxide biosynthesis inhibits glucose output and competes with urea synthesis for L-arginine, Am. J. Physiol. 268 (1995) G183–G188.
- [101] J. Ou, L. Molina, Y.-M. Kim, T.M. Billiar, Excessive NO production does not account for the inhibition of hepatic gluconeogenesis in endotoxaemia, Am. J. Physiol. 271 (1996) G621–G628.
- [102] E.D. Ceppi, M.A. Titheradge, Effect of multiple cytokines plus bacterial endotoxin on glucose and nitric oxide pro-

duction by cultured hepatocytes, Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 349 (1998) 167–174.

- [103] B.L. Tepperman, J.F. Brown, B. Whittle, Nitric-oxide synthase induction and intestinal epithelial-cell viability in rats, Am. J. Physiol. 265 (1993) G214–G218.
- [104] P.C. Kuo, R.A. Schroeder, The emerging multifaceted role of nitric oxide, Ann. Surg. 221 (1995) 220–235.
- [105] N. Unno, H. Wang, M.J. Menconi, S.H.A.J. Tytgat, V. Larkin, M. Smith, M.J. Morin, A. Chavez, R.A. Hodin, M.P. Fink, Inhibition of inducible nitric oxide synthase ameliorates endotoxin-induced gut mucosal barrier dysfunction in rats, Gastroenterology 113 (1997) 1246–1257.
- [106] N.K. Boughton-Smith, I.R. Hutcheson, A.M. Deakin, B.J.R. Whittle, S. Moncada, Protective effect of S-nitroso-

N-acetrylpenicillamine in endotoxin induced acute intestinal damage in the rat, Eur. J. Pharmacol. 91 (1990) 485– 488.

- [107] I. Bohlinger, M. Leist, F. Gantner, S. Angermuller, G. Tiegs, A. Wendel, DNA fragmentation in mouse organs during endotoxic shock, Am. J. Pathol. 149 (1996) 1381– 1393.
- [108] K. Fehsel, K.D. Kroncke, K.L. Meyer, H. Huber, V. Wahn, V. Kolbachofen, Nitric oxide induces apoptosis in mouse thymocytes, J. Immunol. 155 (1995) 2858–2865.
- [109] S. Dimmeler, A.M. Zeiher, Nitric oxide and apoptosis: another paradigm for the double-edged role of nitric oxide, Nitric Oxide Biol. Chem. 1 (1997) 275–281.